
Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 
10545 Armstrong Ave., Suite 200 • Mather, California 95655 • Phone (916) 859-4305• Fax (916) 859-3715 

DAN HAVERTY 
/11/erim Fire Chief POLICY COMMITTEE - REGULAR MEETING 

Thursday, AUGUST 10, 2023 - 5:00 PM 

Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 
10545 Armstrong Avenue, Boardroom, 2nd Floor 

Mather, California 
& 

Remotely Via Zoom 
Webinar ID: 827 3461 0232 # 

Pass code: metro2101 
Phone: 1 (669) 444-9171 or 1 (669) 900 6833 

~ Passcode: 838771796 # 
https://us06web.zoom. us/j/82734610232?pwd=SFILQ 1 Znd25RSmlhdXZVQVh4d 1 VWZz09 

CALL TO ORDER 

PUBLIC OPPORTUNITY TO DISCUSS MATTERS OF PUBLIC INTEREST WITHIN 
COMMITTEE'S SCOPE INCLUDING ITEMS ON OR NOT ON AGENDA 

CONSENT AGENDA 
The Consent Agenda is acted upon with one motion unless a committee member requests 
separate discussion and/or action. 

1. Action Summary Minutes 
Recommendation: Approve the Action Summary Minutes for meeting of 
June 8, 2023. 

ACTION ITEM 

Page No. 
2 

1. Purchasing & Contracting Policy (Purchasing Agent Courtney Moore) 3 
Recommendation: Approve the Revision to the Purchasing & Contracting Policy and 
Refer to the full Board for Approval. · 

PRESENTATION ITEMS 

1. 

2. 

Reinstatement Policy (HR Manager Melisa Maddux) 
Recommendation: Review the revised policy for informational purposes only, 
no further action required. 

Financial Planning and Budget Policy (CFO Dave O'Toole) 
Recommendation: Review the revised policy for informational purposes, 
no further action required. 

NEXT MEETING DATE: September 14, 2023 

ADJOURNMENT 

Posted on August 7, 2023 

'ffl¾,i,~ 
Marni Rittburg, CC 
Clerk of the Board 

26 

32 



l I Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 
~•;♦~ 10545 Armstrong Ave., Suite 200 • Mather, California 95655 • Phone (916) 859-4305• Fax (916) 859-3715 

DAN HAVERTY 
Interim Fire Chief ACTION SUMMARY MINUTES - REGULAR MEETING 

POLICY COMMITTEE 
THURSDAY, JUNE 8, 2023 

SACRAMENTO METROPOLITAN FIRE DISTRICT 
& 

Remotely Via Zoom 

CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order at 5:30 pm by Director Costa. Committee members present: 
Costa and Saylors. Committee members absent: Goold. Staff present: Chief Haverty and Board 
Clerk Penilla. 

PUBLIC COMMENT: None 

CONSENT AGENDA 
Action: Moved by Saylors seconded by Costa, and carried unanimously by members present 
to adopt the Consent Calendar as follows: 

1. Action Summary Minutes 
Recommendation: Approve the Action Summary Minutes for meeting of 
March 9, 2023. 
Action: Approved the Action Summary Minutes. 

ACTION ITEMS 

1. Revision of Board Policy (Melisa Maddux, HR Manager) 
Recommendation: Approve the revision to the Family and Medical Leave Policy and 
refer to the full Board for approval. 
Action: Moved by Costa seconded by Saylors to move the FMLA Policy forward for 
Board consideration at a future meeting. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting adjourned at 5:38 pm. 

Director Costa, Chair 

Marni Rittburg, CMC 
Clerk of the Board 

P2 



Dan Haverty 
Interim Fire Chief 

DATE: 

TO: 

SUBJECT: 

Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 

10545 Armstrong Ave., Suite 200 • Mather, CA 95655 • Phone (916) 859-4300 • Fax (916) 859-3702 

August 10, 2023 

Policy Committee Members 

Revision of Board Policy 
Policy 01.010.03 - Purchasing and Contracting 

TOPIC 

Review the proposed changes to the current Policy 01.010.03 - Purchasing and 
Contracting 

DISCUSSION 

Attached is the amended Purchasing and Contracting Policy, which was last approved by 
the Board on March 25, 2021. This policy was reviewed by the Finance Division and 
language has been amended to clarify processes pertaining to procurements using 
federal funding and update other sections of the policy. The original policy and the newly 
revised policy are attached for your review. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Recommend the Policy Committee approve the revision · to the Purchasing and 
Contracting Policy and refer to the full Board for approval. 

Submitted By: Approved By: 

~{!)~ 
Dave O'Toole 

Oc.-- M-~ 
Dan Haverty ~ 

Chief Financial Officer Interim Fire Chief 

Serving Sacramento and Placer Counties 

P3 



Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 
BOARD POLICY 

POLICY TITLE: Purchasing and Contracting OVERSIGHT: Administration 

POLICY NUMBER: 01 .010.03 EFFECTIVE DATE: 11/04/92 REVIEW DATE: 03/25/2021 

Background 

The intent of the policy is to seekSacramento Metropolitan Fire District's (District) 
Purchasing and Contracting Policy was established to stimulate and promote competitioni
f)fOcure personal property for the procurement of District goods and services at a standard 
consistent with the required levels of quality; assure: ensure that all qualified and 
responsible suppliers amt-bidders have an equal opportunity to do business with the 
Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District (District); utilize aeceptedDistrict; implement public 
purchasing best-practices for the conduct of our service; that comply with all federal, state 
and.L local laws; conform to ethicaland adopt business practices in all transactions; conck¾Gt 
all District business in a manner that will inspire goodfacilitate effective business 
relationships and insure theretain public confidence of the public. 

Purpose 

The purpose of this policy is to provide a single resource of informationdirection for #le 
procurement of all equipment, material, supplies.procuring goods and services to be 
utilized by the District in meeting its mission of providing protection, education.Land service 
to our community. 

2. 

Scope 

This policy is applicableapplies to all District personnel. 

Definitions 

1. Bid: ::rhe processA statement of obtaining quotescost for tJ:ie----purchase of 
equipment, materials, supplies.goods and services.L when specifics are known. 

Proposal: The process of obtaining quotes for the purchase of equipment, 
materials, supplies, and services when specifies are not known or a solution is 
being sought. 

~_2. __ Board: The Board of Directors of the Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District. 

4. 

3. 

Construction: The work of constructing, altering, renovating, or any other repair 
work improving buildings or facilities,-mcluding labor and materials thereby 
required. Minor repainting or other routine maintenance required for the protection 
and preservation of any District property is not considered construction. 

Capital Asset: Assets of significant value, broadly classified as land, buildings and 
improvements, infrastructure, equipment. and intangible assets, with a 

-- - - ... . ·-~- · - - ·- - ··--··· · · -

1 I P a g e 

P4 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 
~~ 
08/10/2023 

capitalization amount in excess of $5,000, and anticipated practical use period 
exceeding one fiscal year. 

974~. __ Emergency: An unforeseen ciroumstance(s) in which anA sudden, unexpected 
occurrence that poses a clear and imminent danger, requiring immediate 
purchase, service, or construction is necessary in orderaction to avoid a 
substantial hazard to prevent or mitigate the loss or impairment of life, health, 
property, or an interruption to the operation of the Districtessential public services. 

"+-:~5. __ Fire Chief's Designee: An employee of the Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 
who has been autROfizeadesignated by the Fire. Chief to requisition and contract 
on behalf of the District. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

10. 

Capital Asset: Assets of significant value, broadly classified as land, buildings and 
improvements, infrastructure, equipment, and intangible assets, with a 
capitalization amount in excess of $5,000, and anticipated practical use period 
exceeding one fiscal year. 

Formal BiddingBid/Proposal: A competitive. bid or proposal submitted in 
response to a formal solicitation process and pursuant to the requirements, terms, 
and conditions outlined fn the formal solicitation. · 

Formal Solicitation Process: The process of issuing a Request for 
Bids/Proposals and receiving sealed written bids/proposals for purchases 
exceeding the minimum amount prescribed by the County of Sacramento's 
Purchasing Ordinance (any amount in excess of $100,000). This does not include 
Public Projects, which must follow a different formal solicitation process. 

Informal BiddingSolicltation Proce~s: The process of receiving a minimum of 
tlfree writteninformal bids/proposals, if available, for purchases in excess of 
$45,000 but less than the minimum amount prescribed in the County of 
Sacramento's Purchasing Ordinance (any amount in excess of $100,000) that 
would require the formal ~§solicitation process. This does not include Public 
Projects, which must follow a different informal solicitation process. 

Informal Bid/Proposal: A competitive bid, price quotation, or proposal for supplies 
or services that is conveyed via letter, fax, email. or other written manner that does 
not require a formal sealed bid or proposal, public opening, or other formalities. 

40-:-'-11~• _ _ Lowest Responsive and Responsible Bidder: The bidder who'sentity that 
submits a bid that was responsive and responsible bid offers the best value to the 
Districtrequirements of the solicitation and who has been deemed to have 
demonstrated the attribute of trustworthiness, as well as quality, fitness, capacity, 
and experience to satisfactorily perform the requested work and at the most 
competitive price. 

12. Multiple Award Schedule: A schedule of non-exclusive contracts to provide 
similar or comparable goods or services of indefinite quantity that are awarded to 

2 IP a g e 

PS 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

~/-2004 
08/10/2023 

more than one supplier or vendor at varying prices for a specified term after 
completion of a formal solicitation process. 

44:-13. Personal Property: lnoludesAny goods, material, supplies, vehicles, machinery, 
furnishings, equipment_. and any other tangible article required for the conduct of 
the business of the District. 

14. Proposal: A statement that includes the cost. timing, source, conditions, and 
related parameters associated with procurement of equipment, materials, 
supplies, and services, when specifics are not known,or a solution is being sought. 

15. Public Project: Includes either (1) constrllction, reconstruction. erection, 
alteration, renovation, improvement, demolition, and repair work involving any 
publicly owned, leased, or operated facility;- or (2) painting or repainting of any 
publicly owned, leased, or operated, facility. Public . p·roject" does not include 
maintenance work, which includes .(1) routine, recurring, and usual work for the 
preservation or protection of any ~ublicly owned or publicly operated facility for its 
intended purposes, (2) minor repainting, and (3) landscape maintenance, including 
mowing, watering, trimming, pruning, planting; ··replacement . of plants, and 
servicing of irrigation and sprinkler systems. · · · 

' . . 

4-2-:-16. Purchase or Purchases: Any contractual arrangement or transaction involving 
payment for the acquisition of title to real or personal property; the use by rental, 
lease or otherwise of real or persom'!I . property, the provision of services by 
independent cunfractor or otherwise; or any combination of the foregoing. 

17. Real Property: Land, that which is affixed to land, that which is incidental or 
appurtenant to land, that which is immovable by law. 

~ 18. . Request for Formal Bi!,i: Used when (RFB): A written solicitation for sealed bids 
issued for the procurement of personal property or services to be purchased is in 
excess of $100,000 and can be, with clearly defined wi#l--specifications. 

19. Request for lnfotmal Bi~Request for Information (Rf I): A non
binding method used to solicit information from potential suppliers of goods and 
services. 

+14-4.---Request for Proposal (RFP): A written solicitation for sealed proposals issued for 
the procurement bf personal property or services to be purchased is in excess of 
$4a,OOO but less than $100,000 and can be clearly defined 1.vith specificatiORS-: 

4-e,.=20=·-_Request for Formal Proposal: Used 1.vhen, where requirements are qualitative 
rather than quantitative, or where the specific personal property or service is not 
easfty-identified or detailed specifications are not available and the anticipated cost 
supplier/vendor is expected to be in excess of $100,000. Suppliers are asked to 
f»=OPOSe their 0 1.vn proposing a solution to aohievea problem posed by tho desired 
resultsDistrict. 

31Page 

P6 



17. 

Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

rom~ 
08/10/2023 

Request for lnf.ormal Proposal: Used 1Nhen the specific personal property or 
service is not easily identified or detailed specifications are not available and the 
expected cost is expected to be in excess of $45,000 but less than $100,000. 
Suppliers are asked to propose their own solution to achieve the desired results. 

4-9-,-21. Request for Qualifications RFQ: Used when the District is seeking to obtain 
information to qualify-firms and/or their proposals in order to decide which compaflY 
would be the most beneficial to do business with, orA pre-procurement process 
used to establish a qualified vendor listpre-qualified list of suppliers/vendors who 
are eligible to respond to future formal solicitations for similar or comparable goods 
or services for a specified term due to their demonstrated qualifications and 
experience. 

2-0-,22. Special Services: AAy--sefv-iGe--ecialized nature required in the conduct of 
operations of the District, which may include services in the areasSuch services 
shall be limited to the fields of accounting, administration, ~mbulance, architecture, 
custodial, economics, engineering, finance, insurance, labor relations, law, 
maintenance; mechanics, medicine, planning, s~ience, technology, and other 
services which are incidental to the operation of Uie DistrictDistrict. 

21. 

22. 

Surety: A financial guarantee to insure the performance of a contract. Surety 
requirements are mandat~d. f.or construction and can be optional for personal 
property and services. 

Fixed Asset:. Assets of significant value ,that e:>dends b~yond the current year and 
that are broadly classified as land, buildings and· improvements, infrastructw:e, 
equipment and intangible assets, and exceed a capitalization amount of $5,000~ 

Policy 

1. The Fire Chief shall designate purchasing authority to certain inaf.v.iooalsthe 
Purchasing Agent and other designees, giving each the ability to make a purchase 
or enter into an agreement once all applicable purchasing procedures have been 
followed as described in this policy. 

2. All District personnel having purchasing authority shall conduct themselves in such 
a manner as to foster public and Board confidence in the integrity of the District's 
purchasing procedures. 

Procedures 

1. General Purchasing and Procurement Procedures 

a. The Purchasing Manager (Agent ("Purchasing➔'.} may review all procurement 
requests (requisitions) for supplies and services prior to the order being placed 
with the vendor to determine if the best value to the District is being met. -+ms 
will include determining if the best vendor has been selected. Purchasing and 
the Budget Officerdivisional budget officer are jointly responsible for identifying 

.. . 

4I P age 

P7 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01 .010.03 

~J2024 
08/10/2023 

acceptable vendors for a specific product or service. -The Budget 
Officerdivisional budget officer is responsible for technical aspects of the 
evaluation and Purchasing is responsible for the financial and service aspects. 
Once acceptable vendors have been established, Purchasing .. in conjunction 
with the Budget Officerdivisional budget officer, shall be responsible for 
selection of a vendor wt:ieensuring vendors selected can best respond to the 
requirements of each particular order. 

b. -A Purchase Order is required for all procurements that exceed $1 ,000. 

c. Purchasing will review all requisitions to as1>ure compliance with bidding, 
contracting, and fixed asset policiesthis policy. 

d. Purchasing will conduct all correspondence with 1/endors involving prices or 
quotations for formal bids. Only Purchasing is authorized to release 
-iR-fermation relative-ta vendor prices, quotations, questions, or any other 
formal bidding information. 

f.:g_! _ _purchasing, in conjunction with the divisional budget officer, will be responsible 
for all communicatio~ with suppliers regardihg performance issu~s. 

~_e._ Purchasing 1.vill review all contracts No contract for services afltior supplies 
prior to the contract beingmay be finalized.,. without Purchasing providing 
review and approval. 

J::h.f,_Purchasing will assume responsibility for issuing all RequestsRFBs, RFPs, 
RFls, and RFQs for Formal Bids, Formal Proposals and Formal QualificatieM 
fer suppliesgoods and services through a coordinated effort with the involved 
division. 

2. Purchases of Personal Property or Supplies 

a. Except as otherwise provided by law, all purchases shall be made in the name 
of the District. 

b. Amounts included in the annual budget approved by the Board for the purchase 
of specifically identified items of personal property shall constitute spending 
authority to the Fire Chief or Fire Chief's Designee for such items of personal 
property up to the approved amounts. -All such purchases shall meetbe in 
accordance with the requirements, if any, of the formal or informal bidding 
procedure prior to purchasemethods and the contracting limits as specified in 
sections 3, 4, 5 and 6 of this policy..,...procedures described herein. 

c. Where the cost of personal property is any amount in excess of $45,000 but is 
less thandoes not exceed $100,000, the Fire Chief or Fire Chief's Designee 
shall be required to follow the informal biddingsolicitation process set forth in 
section 5 herein. 

-- ·- ·---·-· ··--- ·---- -- . --------- -----···· - · .. - ·- --
51 Pag e 

PB 



3. 

Purchasing and Contracting 
01 .010.03 

03/25/2021 
08/10/2023 

d. Where the cost of personal property is any amount in excess of $100,000_. the 
Fire Chief or Fire Chief's Designee shall be required to follow the formal 
biddingsolicitation process set forth in section 6 or section 7 herein.of this 
policy. 

Procurement of Special Services 

a. The District may contract for special services (as defined in the Definitions 
section of this policy) with persons or expert firms specially trained, 
experienced, and competent to perform the special service. 

b. The Fire Chief or Fire Chief's Designee is hereby authorized to enter into 
agreements, by which independent contractors provide such special services 
to the District. Any special service contract or agreement that is less than 
$100,000 can be entered into w.ithout the informal oo::lsolicitation process, 
providing the Fire Chief or the Fire Chief's Designee h~s researched all options 
and has determined that the decision is based on the best value for the District. 

c. AflyExcept as otherwise provided herein, any Special Service contract or 
agreement as defined herein, which is expected to exceed $100,000 shall be 
solicited through the' formal biddingsolicitation· process. 

4. Purchases Services Less Than J!Q..!Q $45,000 

5. 

a. These purchases are known as "Best Judgment Purchases~,.'.'. This means that 
individu·aI purchases for personal property or services less thanup to $45,000 
can be completed using the purchaser's best judgment. Informal bidding is 
encouraged at this level by getting phone quotes over the phone or email 
(preferred), or by using the internet Internet to researchdocument competitor 
pricing and make sure the District is receiving the best value. A purchase order 
is required for any transaction over $1,000. 

-9,----For those purchases of personal property and services that do not require the 
formal or informal aia4iR€}solicitation process, staff is encouraged tomust 
research, and evaluate to make sure the District is getting the best value, aR€l 
assureensuring that the best price is obtained for the particular goods or 
service taking into consideration the total cost of ownership (TCO). 

th_b_. _ This can be achieved by obtaining, if available, a minimum of three 
comparison bid evaluations using verbal and/or written quotations, or any other 
method of obtaining comparison costing or estimates. 

Informal BiddingSolicitation Process (Purchases totaling $45,000.01 to 
$100,000.00) 

a. When the expenditure required for the purchase of personal property or 
services is in excess of $45,000.00 but less than and up to $100,000.00 District 
staff is required to obtain , procurement of the personal property or services 
must be obtained through the following informal biddingsolicitation process.,-~ 

6 1Pag e 

pg 



6. 

a. Procedure: 

Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

rom~ 
08/10/2023 

i. Fill outObtain and complete the Informal Bid/Proposal Form found at 
P:\_Forms},Purchasing Forms\on Metro Apps > Documents. 

ii. Obtain at least three (3) written quotes. If three (3) quotes were not 
acquired, a detailed explanation detailing why the required number of 
quotes were not obtained must be provided on the Informal Bid/Proposal 
Form. This exception may be approved at the discretion of the Ppurchasing 
Aagent if it is determined that the making of Jhe purchase without three (3) 
quotes is reasonably necessary for the conduct of District business. 

0. Obtain at least three (3) quotes. 

w-,.liL_Submit Informal Bid Form and all qciotes to Purchasing for revie•.v and enter 
into I NCODEEnter a requisition .f6r the purchase. purchase into the District's 
financial system. A completed Informal Bid/Proposal Form and all quotes 
(if applicable) shall be atta~hed to the requisition for Purchasing to review. 
Upon approval from Purchasing, a purchase order will be issued. 

Informal Proposal Formal Solicitation Process 

g.,_6._VVhen the expenditure required for .the purchase of personal property or services 
is in excess of $4§,000 b4t less than (Purchases Exceeding $100,000,..-aRG 
detailed specifications are unkno1.vn or a solution is being sought, District staff is 
required to · obtain personal property--ef'--Services through the informal proposal 
process. 1 

8. 

Procedur~: 

0. -Fill out th~ Informal Proposal Form found at P:\_Forms\Purchasing 
Forms\lnformal Proposal Form. 

0. Obtain at least three (3) quotes. 

O. Submit Informal Proposal Form and all quotes to Purchasin~ 
and enter in.to INCODE a requisition for the purchase. Upon approval 

·from Purchasing, a purchase order will be issued. 

Formal Bidding Process 

&.-a. Except as otherwise provided herein, when the 
expenditure required for the purchase of personal property or services exceeds 
$100,000, the District shall ~notify Purchasing to initiate the formal 
biddingsolicitation process. Contract shall be awarded to the most responsive 
and a•Nard the contract to the lo1Nest responsible bidder atoffering the best 
value to the District.,..., and is subject to approval by the Board. 

i. Procedure: 

0. Fill out the Formal Bid Form found at P:\_Forms\Purchasing 
Forms\Formal Bid Form. 

7 I Page 

P10 



8. 

7. 

Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

03/25/2021 
08/10/2023 

0. Submit completed form to Purchasing for publishing and solicitation for 
sealed bids. 

0. Purchasing will handle all further actions required. 

Formal Proposal Process 

LWhon the expenditure required for the purchase Purchasing will conduct all 
correspondence with suppliers involving prices or quotations for formal 
solicitations. Only Purchasing is authorized to release formal solicitation 
information related to vendor prices, quotations, questions, or related 
information. 

Exception to Bidding 
~ 

a. Purchases may be allowed without competitive bidding under the following 
circumstances: 

i. When the aggregate or cumulative price to be paid under the purchase 
contract is one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) or less, unless 
otherwise required by state law. 

ii. In the event of an Emergency. 

iii. When the following types of personal property or services is in excess of 
$100,000, and detailed specifications are unknown or a solution is being 
sought, District staff is required to obtain personal pro~being 
acquired, obtained, rented o~ leased: 

A. Advertising; 

B. Books, recordings, motion picture films, subscriptions; 

C. Election supplies; 

D. Insurance; 

E. Public utility services~ 

F. Travel services; 

A,G. Property or services provided by or through the formal proposal 
process.other governmental agencies; or obtainable from 
suppliers which have in force a current contract with another 
governmental agency for the same item or service 

Procedure: 

:.-H:..,_, __ Fill outProperty or services the f ormal Proposal Form found at 
P:\_Forms\price of which is fixed by law. 

8 I P a g e 

P11 



8. 

Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

00/25/2021 
08/10/2023 

iv. When a patented or proprietary item is being purchased (including 
single/sole source)., 

v. When the branch Deputy Chief and Purchasing Forms\Formal Proposal 
~Agent determines that making of a purchase without competitive 
proposals is reasonably necessary for the conduct of District business. 

Submit oompleted form b. Exception to PurohasingFormal Solicitation Process: 

0:---lf purchase does not qualify for one of the exceptions to competitive 
bidding detailed in Section 7, Part a., i-iii, a request for an exception 
from the formal solicitation process sh.ali be made. Requests for 
publishing andan exception from the formal solicitation for sealed bids. 

0. Purohasing 111ill handle all further aotions required. 

Request for Qualifioation 

vhi. When the Distriot is seeking individual firms to do business with, to 
establish a multiple award schedule, or to establish a qualifiee-veflGGF 
list, staff is ·required · to process shall follow the Request for 
Qualifioationthis process outlined herein.~ 

a. Prooedure: 

A. " Fill out the Fill out the Request for Exception to Formal Solicitation 
Process Form and Diselosure Statement found on Metro Apps > 
Documents 

B. 

C. 

Submit . completed form and any applicable supporting 
documentation to branch Deputy Chief and Purchasing for review 
and preliminary approval. 

Submit to Board of Directors for review and approval. 

-=-8.:..... __ Request for Qualification Form found at P:\_Forms\Purchasing Forms\Vendef 
RequestProcess 

a. When the District is seeking to establish a pre-qualified list of 
suppliers/vendors for Qualifioation Formthe purpose of streamlining future 
formal solicitation processes for similar or comparable goods or services the 
pre-qualified list must be established through the following Request for 
Qualifications (RFQ) process. 
1. Submit oompleted form to Purohasing for publioation and solioitation of 

fifm&.. 

i. Purchasing shall work with the divisional budget officer to prepare an 
RFQ document that describes the type of goods or services and identifies 
the minimum qualifications required for a supplier/vendor to be eligible to 
respond to future formal solicitations for that type of goods or services. 

9 I Page 

P12 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

Qm.a/-2004 
08/10/2023 

ii. Only Purchasing is authorized to issue RFQ documents. Purchasing will 
RaAdleconduct all further actions requiredcorrespondence with suppliers 
related to the RFQ process. 

hiii. A pre-qualified list of suppliers/vendors may be established at the 
conclusion of the RFQ process to include suppliers/vendors with 
demonstrated qualifications and experience. These suppliers/vendors 
will become eligible to respond to future formal solicitations for similar or 
comparable goods or services. 

9. Contracts 

a. When the Board determines that it is' in the public interest, the District may 
contract with any other public or private agency for fire protection services, 
rescue services, emergency medical services, hazardous material emergency 
response services, ambulance services, and any other emergency services for 
the protection of lives and property. 

b. All contracts for consulting services shall re-quire review by Legal Counsel. 

c. All contracts for goods and services evei:up to the informal bid amountthreshold 
of $45,000 shall require the review and approval of Purchasing. 

1 O. _Conflict of Interest 

a. The Fire Chief, Fire Chief's Designee, or Board of Directors shall ensure that 
any purchase of . any personal propeftyPersonal Property or special 
servicesSpecial Services shall be in compliance with California Government 
Code Section 87100 et. seq., pertaining to Conflict of Interest. All transactions 
·('.}ver $10,000 will require an additional Disclosure Statement to safeguard 
against any financial interest or personal relationship 1Nith the vendor that may 
be deemed a ·conflict., which states: 

A public official at any level of state or local government shall not make, 
participate in making, or in any way attempt to use the public official's 
official position to influence a governmental decision in which the official 
knows or has reason to know the official has a financial interest. 

' 

11. _Bid Splitting Prohibited 

a. It is unlawful, for the purpose of evading any requirements herein, to split or 
separate into smaller units of purchase any purchase covered by this policy. 

12. _Former District Employees 

a. For the three (3) year period from the date the former District employee left 
District employment, no former District employee may enter into or participate 
in a contract in which they engaged in any of the negotiations, transactions, 

. - - . - - - - .. 

10IPage 

P13 



13. 

13. 

14 . 

Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

romW24 
08/10/2023 

pl~nning arrangements or any part of the decision-:making process relevant to 
the contract while employed in any capacity by the District. 

Construction Contracting 

Public Projects 

-. -The District has adoptedelected to become subject to the procedures outlined 
in the Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Act and as such requires 
a bid process for the construction or completion ·(Act). Public projects of 8f1Y 
building, structure, or improvement. When the ·expenditure required for the 
project is expected to exceed $45sixty thousand dollars ($60,000-btlt) or less 
than $1 00may be performed by the employees of the District by force 
account, by negotiated contract, or by purchase order. Public projects of two 
hundred thousand dollars ($200,00d, it shall be contracted for and ai.varded 
to the lowest responsible bidder oy the District's ) or less may be let to 
contract by informal bidding pr.pcess in conjunction with the procedures ef-as 
set forth in the UniformAct. Public Construction Cost Acco~nting Act. 

&.-g,_For constructioo-prpjects estimated to ,be of more than $100,000, the 
District'stwo hundred thousand dollars ($200,000) shall, except as otherwise 
provided in the Act, be let to contract by formal bidding process will be followed 
in conjunction with the procedures .of the Uniform Public Construction Cost 
Accounting .~ctprocedure. Such formal and informal bidding procedures are 
outlined.in the California Government Code, commencing with Section 22030. 

. . 

Procedure: 

0. Fill out the Formal Bid Form found at P:\_Forms\Purchasing 
Forms\Fo.rmal Bid Forni 

0. Submit completed form to Purchasing for publishing and solicitation for 
sealed bids. 

0. Purchasing 'Nill handle all further actions required by the Uniform Public 
Construction Cost Accounting Act. 

In cases of Emergency 

In the cas_e of an emergency, the Board may adopt by resolution or motion · 
and by a majority vote of all members of the Board, to when repair or fef}lase 
a public facility, take any directly related and immediate action required by 
that emergency, and procure thereplacements are necessary~mem, 
services, and supplies for those purposes, 1Nithout giving notice for bids to let 
contracts. 

m-,.~8efore the-8oard takes any action pursuant to section 15a of this po»Gy,it 
, the District shall make a finding, based on substantial evidence set forthfollow 
the Emergency Contracting Procedures detailed in the minutes of its meeting, 
that the emergency will not permit a delay for the purposes of a competitive 

11I Page 

P14 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 
~~ 
08/10/2023 

solicitation for bids, and that the action is necessary to respond to the 
emergencyCalifornia Public Contract Code, Section 22050. 

If the Fire Chief or Fire Chief's Designee orders any action specified in 
section 15a of this policy, that person shall report to the Board at its next 
meeting the reasons justifying why the emergency 1Nill not permit a delay 
resulting from a competitive solicitation for bids and why the action is 
necessary to respond to the emergency. 

4@,....:..14"'"'. _ __ District PurchasingProcurement Card 

15. 

a. The District issues a purchasing card proellrement cards to certain individuals 
for District use only. Requests for a, purchasing card ¥.'ill be sent to the 
Controller.-specific purchases. All purchases made with the District Purchasing 
Garoprocurement card must....fifSt meet ALL procurement requirements stated 
in this document,- AND closely a~here to the District's procurement card policy, 
which includes these provisions: 

a. A Purchase Order is required for all proc_ureliients that exceed $1,0OQ.,. 

_i. _-F-ixet!District procurement cards may only be used as a purchase option for 
small purchases up to $1000, when items are not available from Logistics. 

ii. District procurement cards may only be used for official business and may 
not be u·sed for personal purchases under any circumstances. 

iii. District procurement cards are only issued to cardholders who have 
certified that they understand and will comply with all related District 
policies. · 

iv. District procurement cards may-be suspended or revoked due to misuse. 

v. District procurement cards shall not be used for grant funded purchases. 
Any exceptions to this must be approved by the grant management team 
prior to making a purchase. 

Capital Asset Policy 

a. The District has a -F-ixet!Capital Asset Policy to provide a mechanism for 
controlling property acquisition, availability, transfer, disposal and proper 
documentation. -Specifics can be found in the -F-ixet!District's Capital Asset 
Policy 106.01. 

4816. Purchases Made WitRwith Federal Grant Funds 

a. Grant Purchases shall follow all procurement standards as outlined in 2 Code 
of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, specifically sections 200.317 through 
200.326. If this policy deviates from the Federal procurement standards as set 
forth in 2 CFR 200 in any way, the District shall follow the more restrictive 
standard for all procurements involving Federal funds. 

12IPage 

P15 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

OJ/25/2021 
08/10/2023 

References 

1. 

2. 

3. 
2. 

3. 

4. 

Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District ~Capital Asset Policy 106.01 

Grants Management Procedures 05-2021 

All current policies can be found in the Policy App 
Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District Procurement Card Policy 

California Public Contract Code 

Sacramento County Purchasing Code 

---- ----·· .... 
13 IPa g e 

P16 



Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 
BOARD POLICY 

POLICY TITLE: Purchasing and Contracting OVERSIGHT: Administration 

POLICY NUMBER: 01.010.03 EFFECTIVE DATE: 11/04/92 REVIEW DATE: 03/25/2021 

Background 

The Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District's (District) Purchasing and Contracting Policy 
was established to stimulate and promote competition for the procurement of District 
goods and services; ensure that all qualified and responsible suppliers have an 
opportunity to do business with the District; implement public purchasing best-practices 
that comply with all federal, state and, local laws; and adopt business practices that will 
facilitate effective business relationships and retain public confidence. 

Purpose 

The purpose of this policy is to provide direction for procuring goods and services to be 
utilized by the District in meeting its mission of providing protection, education, and service 
to our community. 

· Scope 

This policy applies to all District personnel. 

Definitions 

1. Bid: A statement of cost for goods and services, when specifics are known. 

2. Board: The Board of Directors of the Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District. 

3. Capital Asset: Assets of significant value, broadly classified as land, buildings and 
improvements, infrastructure, equipment, and intangible assets, with a 
capitalization amount in excess of $5,000, and anticipated practical use period 
exceeding one fiscal year. 

4. Emergency: A sudden, unexpected occurrence that poses a clear and imminent 
danger, requiring immediate action to prevent or mitigate the loss or impairment of 
life, health, property, or essential public services. 

5. Fire Chief's Designee: An employee of the Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 
who has been designated by the Fire Chief to requisition and contract on behalf of 
the District. 

6. Capital Asset: Assets of significant value, broadly classified as land, buildings and 
improvements, infrastructure, equipment, and intangible assets, with a 
capitalization amount in excess of $5,000, and anticipated practical use period 
exceeding one fiscal year. 

1I Page 

P17 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

08/10/2023 

7. Formal Bid/Proposal: A competitive bid or proposal submitted in response to a 
formal solicitation process and pursuant to the requirements, terms, and conditions 
outlined in the formal solicitation. 

8. Formal Solicitation Process: The process of issuing a Request for 
Bids/Proposals and receiving sealed written bids/proposals for purchases 
exceeding the minimum amount prescribed by the County of Sacramento's 
Purchasing Ordinance (any amount in excess of $100,000). This does not include 
Public Projects, which must follow a different formal solicitation process. 

9. Informal Solicitation Process: The process of receiving a minimum of three 
informal bids/proposals, if available, for purchases in excess of $45,000 but less 
than the minimum amount prescribed in the County of Sacramento's Purchasing 
Ordinance (any amount in excess of $100,000) that would require the formal 
solicitation process. This does not include Public Projects, which must follow a 
different informal solicitation process. 

1 O. Informal Bid/Proposal: A competitive bid, price quotation, or proposal for supplies 
or services that is conveyed via letter, fax, email, or other written manner that does 
not require a formal sealed bid or proposal, public opening, or other formalities. 

11. Lowest Responsive and Responsible Bidder: The entity that submits a bid that 
was responsive to the requirements of the solicitation and who has been deemed 
to have demonstrated the attribute of trustworthiness, as well as quality, fitness, 
capacity, and experience to satisfactorily perform the requested work and at the 
most competitive price. 

12. Multiple Award Sched!,.lle: A schedule of non-exclusive contracts to provide 
similar or comparable goods or services of indefinite quantity that are awarded to 
more than one supplier or vendor at varying prices for a specified term after 
completion of a formal solicitation process. 

13. Personal Property: Any goods, material, supplies, vehicles, machinery, 
furnishings, equipment, and any other tangible article required for the conduct of 
the business of the District. 

14. Proposal: A statement that includes the cost, timing, source, conditions, and 
related parameters associated with procurement of equipment, materials, 
supplies, and services, when specifics are not known or a solution is being sought. 

15. Public Project: Includes either (1) construction, reconstruction, erection, 
alteration, renovation, improvement, demolition, and repair work involving any 
publicly owned, leased, or operated facility, or (2) painting or repainting of any 
publicly owned, leased, or operated facility. Public project" does not include 
maintenance work, which includes (1) routine, recurring, and usual work for the 
preservation or protection of any publicly owned or publicly operated facility for its 
intended purposes, (2) minor repainting, and (3) landscape maintenance, including . 
mowing, watering, trimming, pruning, planting, replacement of plants, and 
servicing of irrigation and sprinkler systems. 

2I P a ge 

P18 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

08/10/2023 

16. Purchase: Any contractual arrangement or transaction involving payment for the 
acquisition of title to real or personal property; the use by rental, lease or otherwise 
of real or personal property, the provision of services by independent contractor or 
otherwise; or any combination of the foregoing. 

17. Real Property: Land, that which is affixed to land, that which is incidental or 
appurtenant to land, that which is immovable by law. 

18. Request for Bid (RFB): A written solicitation for sealed bids issued for the 
procurement of personal property or services in excess of $100,000, with clearly 
defined specifications. 

19. Request for Information (RFI): A non-binding method used to solicit information 
from potential suppliers of goods and services. 

20. Request for Proposal (RFP): A written solicitation for sealed proposals issued for 
the procurement of personal property or services in excess of $100,000, where 
requirements are qualitative rather than quantitative, or where the supplier/vendor 
is proposing a solution to a problem posed by the District. 

21. Request for Qualifications RFQ: A pre-procurement process used to establish a 
pre-qualified list of suppliers/vendors who are eligible to respond to future formal 
solicitations for similar or comparable goods or services for a specified term due 

· to their demonstrated qualifications and experience. 

22. Special Services: Such services shall be limited to the fields of accounting, 
administration, ambulance, architecture, custodial, economics, engineering, 
finance, insurance, labor relations, law, maintenance, mechanics, medicine, 
planning, science, technology, and other services which are incidental to the 
operation of the District. 

Policy 

1. The Fire Chief shall designate purchasing authority to the Purchasing Agent and 
other designees, giving each the ability to make a purchase or enter into an 
agreement once all applicable purchasing procedures have been followed as 
described in this policy. 

2. All District personnel having purchasing authority shall conduct themselves in such 
a manner as to foster public and Board confidence in the integrity of the District's 
purchasing procedures. 

Procedures 

1. General Purchasing and Procurement Procedures 

a. The Purchasing Agent ("Purchasing") may review all procurement requests 
(requisitions) for supplies and services prior to the order being placed with the 
vendor to determine if the best value to the District is being met. Purchasing 

3 1Page 

P19 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01 .010.03 

08/10/2023 

and the divisional budget officer are jointly responsible for identifying 
acceptable vendors for a specific product or service. The divisional budget 
officer is responsible for technical aspects of the evaluation and Purchasing is 
responsible for the financial and service aspects. Once acceptable vendors 
have been established, Purchasing, in conjunction with the divisional budget 
officer, shall be responsible for ensuring vendors selected can best respond to 
the requirements of each particular order. 

b. A Purchase Order is required for all procurements that exceed $1,000. 

c. Purchasing will review all requisitions to assure compliance with this policy. 

d. Purchasing, in conjunction with the divisional budget officer, will be responsible 
for all communication with suppliers regarding performance issues. 

e. No contract for services or supplies may be finalized without Purchasing 
providing review and approval. 

f. Purchasing will assume responsibility for issuing all RFBs, RFPs, RFls, and 
. RFQs for goods and services through a coordinated effort with the involved 
division. 

2. Purchases of Personal Property 

a. Except as otherwise provided by law, all purchases shall be made in the name 
of the District. 

b. Amounts included in the annual budget approved by the Board for the purchase 
of specifically identified items of personal property · shall constitute spending 
authority to the Fire Chief or Fire Chief's Designee for such items of personal 
property up to the approved amounts. All such purchases shall be in 
accordance with the methods and procedures described herein. 

c. Where the cost of personal property is any amount in excess of $45,000 but 
does not exceed $100,000, the Fire Chief or Fire Chief's Designee shall be 
required to follow the informal solicitation process set forth in section 5 herein. 

d. Where the cost of personal property is any amount in excess of $100,000, the 
Fire Chief or Fire Chief's Designee shall be required to follow the formal 
solicitation process set forth in section 6 or section 7 of this policy. 

3. Procurement of Special Services 

a. The District may contract for special services (as defined in the Definitions 
section of this policy) with persons or expert firms specially trained, 
experienced, and competent to perform _the special service. 

b. The Fire Chief or Fire Chief's Designee is hereby authorized to enter into 
agreements, by which independent contractors provide such special services 
to the District. Any special service contract or agreement that is less than 

4 j Page 

P20 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01 .010.03 

08/10/2023 

$100,000 can be entered into without the informal solicitation process, 
providing the Fire Chief or the Fire Chief's Designee has researched all options 
and has determined that the decision is based on the best value for the District. 

c. Except as otherwise provided herein, any Special Service contract or 
agreement as defined herein, which is expected to exceed $100,000 shall be 
solicited through the formal solicitation process. 

4. Purchases up to $45,000 

a. These purchases are known as "Best Judgment Purchases." This means that 
individual purchases for personal property or services up to $45,000 can be 
completed using the purchaser's best judgment. Informal bidding is 
encouraged at this level by getting quotes over the phone or email (preferred), 
or by using the Internet to document competitor pricing and make sure the 
District is receiving the best value. A purchase order is required for any 
transaction over $1,000. 

b. For those purchases of personal property and services that do not require the 
formal or informal solicitation process, staff must research and evaluate to 
make sure the District is getting the best value, ensuring that the best price is 
obtained for the particular goods or service taking into consideration the total 
cost of ownership (TCO).This can be achieved by obtaining, if available, a 
minimum of three comparison bid evaluations using verbal and/or written 
quotations, or any other method of obtaining comparison costing or estimates. 

5. Informal Solicitation Process (Purchases totaling $45,000.01 to $100,000.00) 

a. When the expenditure required for the purchase of personal property or 
services is in excess of $45,000.00 and up to $100,000.00, procurement of the 
personal property or services must be obtained through the following informal 
solicitation process: 

i. Obtain and complete the Informal Bid/Proposal Form found on Metro Apps 
> Documents. 

ii. Obtain at least three (3) written quotes. If three (3) quotes were not 
acquired, a detailed explanation detailing why the required number of 
quotes were not obtained must be provided on the Informal Bid/Proposal 
Form. This exception may be approved at the discretion of the Purchasing 
Agent if it is determined that the making of the purchase without three (3) 
quotes is reasonably necessary for the conduct of District business. 

iii. Enter a requisition for purchase into the District's financial system. A 
completed Informal Bid/Proposal Form and all quotes (if applicable) shall 
be attached to the requisition for Purchasing to review. Upon approval from 
Purchasing, a purchase order will be issued. 

. . - . . - . -· - . 

5 1P age 

P21 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

08/10/2023 

6. Formal Solicitation Process (Purchases Exceeding $100,000) 

a. Except as otherwise provided herein, when the expenditure required for the 
purchase of personal property or services exceeds $100,000, the District shall 
notify Purchasing to initiate the formal solicitation process. Contract shall be 
awarded to the most responsive and responsible bidder offering the best value 
to the District, and is subject to approval by the Board. 

b. Purchasing will conduct all correspondence with suppliers involving prices or 
quotations for formal solicitations. Only Purchasing is authorized to release 
formal solicitation information related to vendor prices, quotations, questions, 
or related information. 

7. Exception to Bidding 

a. Purchases may be allowed without competitive bidding under the following 
circumstances: 

i. When the aggregate or cumulative price to be paid under the purchase 
contract is one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) or less, unless 
otherwise required by state law. 

ii. In the event of an Emergency. 

iii. When the following types of personal property or services are being 
acquired, obtained, rented or leased: 

A. Advertising; 

B. Books, recordings, motion picture films, subscriptions; 

C. Election supplies; 

D. Insurance; 

E. Public utility services; 

F. Travel services; 

G. Property or services provided by or through other governmental 
agencies; or obtainable from suppliers which have in force a 
current contract with another governmental agency for the same 
item or service 

H. Property or services the price of which is fixed by law. 

iv. When a patented or proprietary item is being purchased (including 
single/sole source). 

v. When the branch Deputy Chief and Purchasing Agent determine that 
making of a purchase without competitive proposals is reasonably 
necessary for the conduct of District business. 

61 P ag e 

P22 



b. Exception to Formal Solicitation Process: 

Purchasing and Contracting 
01 .010.03 

08/10/2023 

i. .If purchase does not qualify for one of the exceptions to competitive 
bidding detailed in Section 7, Part a., i-iii, a request for an exception 
from the formal solicitation process shall be made. Requests for an 
exception from the formal solicitation process shall follow this process: 

A. Fill out the Request for Exception to Formal Solicitation Process 
Form and Disclosure Statement found on Metro Apps > Documents 

B. Submit completed form and any applicable supporting 
documentation to branch Deputy Chief and Purchasing for review 
and preliminary approval. 

C. Submit to Board of Directors for review and approval. 

8. Request for Qualification Process 

a. When the District is seeking to establish a pre-qualified list of 
suppliers/vendors for the purpose of streamlining future formal solicitation 
processes for similar or comparable goods or services the pre-qualified list 
must be established through the following Request for Qualifications (RFQ) 
process. 

i. Purchasing shall work with the divisional budget officer to prepare an 
RFQ document that describes the type of goods or services and identifies 
the minimum qualifications required for a supplier/vendor to be eligible to 
respond to future formal solicitations for that type of goods or services. 

ii. Only Purchasing is authorized to issue RFQ documents. Purchasing will 
conduct all correspondence with suppliers related to the RFQ process. 

iii. A pre-qualified list of suppliers/vendors may be established at the 
conclusion of the RFQ process to include suppliers/vendors with 
demonstrated qualifications and experience. These suppliers/vendors 
will become eligible to respond to future formal solicitations for similar or 
comparable goods or services. 

9. Contracts 

a. When the Board determines that it is in the public interest, the District may 
contract with any other public or private agency for fire protection services, 
rescue services, emergency medical services, hazardous material emergency 
response services, ambulance services, and any other emergency services for 
the protection of lives and property. 

b. All contracts for consulting services shall require review by Legal Counsel. 

c. All contracts for goods and services up to the informal bid threshold of $45,000 
shall require the review and approval of Purchasing. 

·-· - . - - -
7IPage 

P23 



10. Conflict of Interest 

Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

08/10/2023 

a. The Fire Chief, Fire Chief's Designee, or Board of Directors shall ensure that 
any purchase of any Personal Property or Special Services shall be in 
compliance with California Government Code Section 87100 et. seq., 
pertaining to Conflict of Interest, which states: 

A public official at any level of state or local government shall not make, 
participate in making, or in any way attempt to use the public official's 
official position to influence a governmental decision in which the official 
knows or has reason to know the official has a financial interest. 

· 11 . Bid Splitting Prohibited 

a. It is unlawful, for the purpose of evading any requirements herein, to split or 
separate into smaller units of purchase any purchase covered by this policy. 

12. . Former District Employees 

a. For the three (3) year period from the date the former District employee left 
District employment, no former District employee may enter into or participate 
in a contract in which they engaged in any of the negotiations, transactions, 
planning arrangements or any part of the decision-making process relevant to 
the contract while employed in any capacity by the District. 

13. Public Projects 

a. The District has elected to become subject to the procedures outlined in the 
Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Act (Act). Public projects of sixty 
thousand dollars ($60,000) or less may be performed by the employees of the 
District by force account, by negotiated contract, or by purchase order. Public 
projects of two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000) or less may be let to 
contract by informal procedures as set forth in the Act. Public projects of more 
than two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000) shall, except as otherwise 
provided in the Act, be let to contract by formal bidding procedure. Such formal 
and informal bidding procedures are outlined in the California Government 
Code, commencing with Section 22030. 

b. In cases of Emergency when repair or replacements are necessary, the District 
shall follow the Emergency Contracting Procedures detailed in the California 
Public Contract Code, Section 22050. 

14. District Procurement Card 

a. The District issues procurement cards to certain individuals for District-specific 
purchases. All purchases made with the District procurement card must meet 
ALL procurement requirements stated in this document AND closely adhere to 
the District's procurement card policy, which includes these provisions: 

Bl P a g e 

P24 



Purchasing and Contracting 
01.010.03 

08/10/2023 

i. District procurement cards may only be used as a purchase option for small 
purchases up to $1000, when items are not available from Logistics. 

ii. District procurement cards may only be used for official business and may 
not be used for personal purchases under any circumstances. 

iii. District procurement cards are only issued to cardholders who have 
certified that they understand and will comply with all related District 
policies. 

iv. District procurement cards may be suspended or revoked due to misuse. 

v. District procurement cards shall not be used for grant funded purchases. 
Any exceptions to this must be approved by the grant management team 
prior to making a purchase. 

15. Capital Asset Policy 

a. The District has a Capital Asset Policy to provide a mechanism for controlling 
property acquisition, availability, transfer, disposal and proper documentation. 
Specifics can be found in the District's Capital Asset Policy. 

16. Purchases Made with Federal Grant Funds 

a. Grant Purchases shall follow all procurement standards as outlined in 2 Code 
of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, specifically sections 200.317 through 
200.326. If this policy deviates from the Federal procurement standards as set 
forth in 2 CFR 200 in any way, the District shall follow the more restrictive 
standard for all procurements involving Federal funds. 

References 

1. Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District Capital Asset Policy 

2. Grants Management Procedures 05-2021 

3. Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District Procurement Card Policy 

4. California Public Contract Code 

5. Sacramento County Purchasing Code 

9 1Pa g e 

P25 



Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 
10545 Armstrong Ave., Suite 200 · Mather, CA 95655 · Phone (916) 859-4300 · Fax (916) 859-3702 

DAN HAVERTY 
Interim Fire Chief 

DATE: 

TO: 

SUl3JECT: 

August 10, 2023 

Policy Committee Members 

Administration Policy 
Policy 02.020.03 - Reinstatement Rehire Policy 

TOPIC 

Review updated Administration Policy 02.020.03 Reinstatement Rehire Policy. 

DISCUSSION 

Attached is the updated Reinstatement Rehire Policy 02.020.03. The Reinstatement 
Rehire Policy provides employment reinstatement guidelines to employees who 
voluntarily terminate employment in good standing and wish to return to their previous 
position held, and rehire guidelines to employees who have been released from 
employment however have been recommended for a lower ranking position previously 
held. The updated Reinstatement Rehire Policy is attached for your review. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Administration Policy review is for informational purposes only as previously directed 
by the Policy Committee. 

Submitted By: Approved By: 

Ck ~-~~ 
Dan Haverty 

Human Resources Manager Interim Fire Chief 

Serving Sacramento and Placer Counties 
P26 



Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 
ADMINISTRATION POLICY 

POLICY 
TITLE: 

Reinstatement Rehire Policy OVERSIGHT: Administration 

POLICY 
NUMBER: 

02.020.0:102.020.03 EFFECTIVE 03/22/2000 REVIEW 
DATE: DATE: 

Background 

~8/10/2023 

The Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District (District) provides reinstatement and rehire 
opportunities to previous employees who voluntarily terminate employment in good 
standing with the District or who have been released from employment but have been 
recommended for a lower-ranking position previously held. Qualifying previous 
employees who meet the eligibility requirements can request employment reinstatement 
or rehire to theif...a position that they previously held. Reinstatement or rehire eligibility 
does not guarantee re-employment with the District and is at the sole discretion of the Fire 
Chief. 

Purpose 

To provide employment reinstatement and rehire guidelines to qualifying employees who 
voluntarily terminate employment or have been released from employment ¼A-iJ99G 
slaAdiA§ wilh lhe Dislrist and wish to return to their previously held position. 

Scope 

This policy is applicable to qualifying previous employees of the District who voluntarily 
separated employment whe-left in good standing or have been released from employment 
but have been recommended for a lower ranking position previously held wilh a separalioA 
of employmeAI lleiA§ AO mere thaA five (5) yeaFG. 

Definitions 

1. Eligibility Requirements: the requirements that must be met to be eligible to 
request employment reinstatement. 

2. Qualifying Previous Employee: full time non probationary employee who 
voluntarily terminated employment in good standing that may apply for 
employment reinstatement with the District within 0-60 months from separation. 

3. Reinstatement: a qualifying previous employee who has met the eligibility 
requirements, and is approved to return to re-employment with the District. 

_4_. __ Reinstatement Probationary Period: all reinstated employees must serve a 
probationary period depending on the period of separation. 

5. 

- ·· --- ---------------· ·--------- - · ··-· -·--·-------------. 
llP agc 

Formatted: Ust Paragraph, No bullets or numbering, Tab 
stops: Not at 0.5" 

Formatted: Font: Bold 

P27 



Reinstatement Policy 
02.020.0:102.020.03 
~8/10/2023 

reinstatement, although does allow for a return to a previous held position. and is 
approved to return to re-employment with the District as a re-hire. ~ 
Probationary Firefighter Paramedic who has been released from probation for 
suppression skills and can be rehired into a position the employee previously 
held. i.e. a Paramedic) 

- Formatted: List Paragraph, No bullets or numbering, Tab 

4'6. Released Previous Employee Probationary Period: a released previous >-s_to..:.p_s,_N_ot_a_t _o._s·------------< 
employee will serve a one (1) year probationary period. For District purposes. ----'-'-'Focc.rm"-'a--ttcc.ed~: F--=-o--nt __ : B....:.ol_d _ _ _ _ _ ____ __j 

there must be at least a one (1) day period of separation. 

Policy 
,__ _ _ _ _ _ _____ _ _ _____ _ _ _ _ _ _ ___ _ _ _ _ _ __.:-. Formatted: Font: 11 pt 

.Employment Reinstatement Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Not Italic 

1. Employment reinstatement is at the sole discretion of the Fire Chief and is 
conditional upon the following: 

a. Existence of a vacancy that has been authorized, funded, and formerly held by 
the employee, 

b. No eligibility lists are established, 

c. Licenses and certifications applicable to conditions of employment are met 
prior to request for reinstatement, unless otherwise agreed to by the Fire Chief; 

i. For Paramedics, if Sacramento County accreditation is needed, all 
accreditation requirements must be met prior to employment. The District 
will coordinate the Sacramento County accreditation once hired, 

d. Or existence of another position lower in rank previously held for which the 
employee is qualified, 

i. If the qualifying previous employee accepts a position in the lower rank 
previously held, the employee will be eligible for the next promotional test 
in the higher rank previously held. 

2. If no such vacancy exists, the employee's name will be placed on an employment 
reinstatement list. 

3. As a condition of employment reinstatement, full time employees who have been 
absent after a voluntary termination, for a period of thirty (30) days or more must 
receive a pre-employment medical and drug exam. Based on the period of 
separation a pre-employment background investigation to include: polygraph 
exam, psych exam, background investigation, medical and drug exam, as 
determined by Human Resources, may be required. 

4. Based upon the period of separation, the employee is required to participate in a 
Return to Work Program as identified in the Return to Work Following an Extended 
Absence Policy, which includes a skills evaluation. The employee must 
successfully complete all identified training requirements. 

5. A reinstated employee must serve a new probationary period in order to attain 
regular status according to the following schedule: 

2JPage 

P28 



Reinstatement Policy 
o:!.Q:rn.0202.020.03 
~8/10/2023 

a. Day Staff, EMT, Paramedic.-and Firefighter rank: 

Period of Separation 
Less than 12 months 
More than 12 months 

Probationary Period 
6 months 
12 months 

b. Any other promotional rank: Engineer, Captain, Battalion Chief: 

Period of Separation 
0-60 months 

Probationary Period 
6 months 

6. A reinstated employee whose period of separation is over twelve (12) months, will 
have their reinstatement date used as their seniority date' for the purposes of the 
following, but not limited to: station bids, vacation leave bids, reduction in force. 

7. A reinstated employee whose period of separation is less than twelve (12) months, 
will keep their place on the seniority list for purposes of the following, but not limited 
to: station bids, vacation leave bids, reduction in force. 

8. All reinstated employee's longevity pay, accruals, incentives, pay step increases, 
or any date effective paid benefits will be adjusted to reflect the period of separation 
in coordination with the employee's prior period of service. This is the District's 
current practice for reinstatements and re-employment. 

9. A previous employee who has been separated from the District for longer than 
sixty (60) months/ five (5) years no longer qualifies for reinstatement. After sixty 
(60) months/ five (5) years of separation, the previous employee can apply for a 
position through an open recruitment with the District and go through the hiring 
process as a new candidate. 

Employment Rehire 

1. Employment rehire is only available to a previous employee who has been• 
released from employment for an identified reason that does not allow for 
reinstatement, although does allow for a return to a previously held position. 
Eligibility for rehire must meet the qualification guidelines and is at the sole 
discretion of the Fire Chief. Eligibility for rehire is contingent upon the following:; 

Formatted: Indent: Hanging: 0.5", Numbered+ Level: 1 + 
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + 
Aligned at: 0.25" + Tab after: 0.5" + Indent at: 0.5" 

a. Existence of a vacancy that has been authorized, funded, and formerly held by•-- Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.5", Numbered + Level: 2 + 
the employee, Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left+ 

Aligned at: 0.75" + Indent at: 1• 

b. No eligibility lists are established. 

c. Licenses and certifications applicable to conditions of employment are met 
prior to request for rehire. unless otherwise agreed to by the Fire Chief: 

i. For Paramedics. if Sacramento County accreditation is needed, all•- - Formatted: Indent: Left: o.75", Hanging: 0.25", Numbered 
accreditation requirements must be met prior to employment. The District + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: 1, 11, m, ... + Start at: 1 + 
will coordinate the Sacramento County accreditation once hired. Alignment: Right+ Aligned at: 1.39• + Indent at: 1-5", Tab 

- • stops: 1", Left 

.,,d~. _T"-'h"-'e"-"p"'o"'s-'-'iti,.,.o"-'n~m=u"'s.,_t ..,,b"'e'--"'lo,..,_w,_,e"-r_,i,_,n_r,_,a"-n"-'k~a"'n'""d"--'p"-re"-v.,_,i""o""us.,,1.,_y_,h_,_,e"-'ld,,_,b,..y'-"th_,_,e,_,,q..,,u"'a"'lify'-J..!!.in,.,.g•- - Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.5", Numbered+ Level: 2 + 
employee. Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + 

Aligned at: 0.75" + Indent at: 1" 

31Page 

P29 



Reinstatement Policy 
02.020.0202.020.03 
~8/10/2023 

2. 

3. 

A released employee who is rehired will serve a one (1 ) year probationary period.: ~ 

3. A ll rehired emll!9:i:ees will earn benefits, accruals and seniority with a new date<~ 
of hire. \ ' 

4. A released employee who has been separated from the District for longer than 
thirty (30) days is not eligible to be rehired. After thirty {30) days of separation, the 
previous employee can apply for a position through an open recruitment with the 
District and go through the hiring process as a new candidate. 

Procedures 

Employment Reinstatement 

1. If a qualifying previous employee would like to request a reinstatement with the 
District, they must notify the Fire Chief or the Human Resources Division ·,ia 13heAe 
Gail-ef..in writing. 

2. Human Resources will verify that the eligibility requirements are met. the 
reinstatement is approved. and that the position the qualifying previous employee 
held is vacant. authorized and funded. 

3. Human Resources will contact the qualifying previous employee to schedule a 
background orientation meeting. 

a. At the background orientation meeting the qualifying previous employee will be 
provided with a Conditional Offer of Employment contingent upon successfully 
passing the background process. as identified by the period of separation. 

b. Once the background process has been successfully completed. the qualifying 
previous employee will be provided a Formal Offer of Reinstatement. 

4. Human Resources will work with the appropriate divisions to identify start date, 
shift, assignment, etc. 

5. If the period of separation from the date of resignation to date of re-employment is 
six (6) month or greater, the reinstated employee will need to return through the 
Return to Work Following an Extended Absence program coordinated through the 
Training Division. 

6. Training, Human Resources, Staffing and Payroll will work together to make 
proper notification of the reinstatement to the appropriate divisions. 

7. The reinstated employee will need to complete a new hire orientation with Human 
Resources once hired. 

8. All applicable pay incentives as identified in the reinstated employee's MOU and 
received prior to the reinstated employee's resignation, will be verified and re
activated. 

4 IPa g e 

\ 
\ 

\ 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt 

Formatted: Normal 

Formatted: Normal, Space After: 6 pt 

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Hanging: 0.5", Space 
After: 6 pt, Numbered+ Level : 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, 
. .. + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left+ Aligned at: 0.25' + Tab 
after: 0.5" + Indent at: 0.5' 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt 

P30 



Reinstatement Policy 
02.020.0202.020.03 
~8/10/2023 

Employment Rehire 

3. 

4. 

5. 

If a released employee would like to request to be rehired with the District. theyc- Formatted: Indent: Lert: o·, Hanging: os, Numbered + 
must notify the Fire Chief or the Human Resources Division in writing. Level: 1 + Numbering style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + 

Alignment: Left+ Aligned at: 2.75" + Tab after: 2.a• + 
Indent at: 2.8", Tab stops: 0.5", Ust tab+ Not at 2.a• 

Human Resources will verify that the eligibility requirements are met. the rehiring◄..______ rt • • be 
· d d th t th ·1· th I d I h Id· t th · d Formatted: Indent: Le : 0, Hanging: 0.5, Num red+ 1s approve , an a e pos1 10n e re ease emp oyee e 1s vacan , au onze Level: 1 + Numbering style: 1, 2, 3, ... + start at: 1 + 
and funded. Alignment: Left+ Aligned at: 2.75" + Tab after: 2.a• + 

Indent at: 2.a• 

Human Resources will contact the released employees to discuss availability, 
and work with the appropriate divisions to identify start date, shift. assignment. 
etc. 

Training, Human Resources, Staffing and Payroll will work together to make 
proper notification of the rehire to the appropriate divisions. 

The rehired employee will complete a new hire orientation with Human Resources◄-- Formatted: Indent: Left: o·, Hanging: o.s-, Numbered+ 
once hired. Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + 

Alignment: Left+ Aligned at: 2. 75" + Tab after: 2,8" + 
Indent at: 2.a• 

References 

1. 522 MOUs 

2. Return to Work Following Extended Absence Policy 

SI Page 

P31 



Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 

10545 Armstrong Ave., Suite 200 • Mather, CA 95655 • Phone (916) 859-4300 • Fax (916) 859-3702 

Dan Haverty 
Interim Fire Chief 

DATE: 

TO: 

SUBJECT: 

August 10, 2023 

Policy Committee Members 

Administration Policy 
Policy 02.021.01 - Financial Planning and Budget Policy 

TOPIC 

Review new Administrative Policy 02.021 .01 Financial Planning and Budget Policy. 

DISCUSSION 

Attached is the new Financial Planning and Budget Policy 02.021 .01 . The Financial 
Planning and Budget Policy serves a guide for District fiscal planning, deliberations 
and decisions toward maintaining long-term financial stability, providing adequate 
funding for Capital Improvement Program (CIP) expenditures, and accelerating 
payment of unfunded liabilities. This policy will assist the Board in making informed 
choices about the provision of District services and management of capital assets, 
and facilitate effective and informed budget input by District constituents. 

This policy guides the development of the District's annual budget and directs Finance 
Division staff on budget development practices, including recognition of year-end 
revenues and calculation of the General Fund reserve. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Administration Policy review is for informational purposes only as previously directed 
by the Policy Committee. 

Submitted By: 

6w~ 
Chief Financial Officer 

Approved By: 

Dan Haverty 
Interim Fire Chief 

Serving Sacramento and Placer Counties 

P32 



Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District 
ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY 

POLICY TITLE: Financial Planning and Budget Policy OVERSIGHT: Finance 

POLICY NUMBER: xx.xxx.xx EFFECTIVE DATE: Xx/xx/xx REVIEW DATE: Xx/xx/xx 

Background 

The Sacramento Metropolitan Fire District (District) is an independent special district 
governed by an elected Board of Directors (Board) responsible for ensuring the 
appropriate expenditure of all property taxes, emergency medical service (EMS) fees, 
and other income sources. 

This policy serves as a guiding document for the District and Board, directing financial 
planning and annual budget practices that will support long-term fiscal sustainability. 

This policy was adopted by the Board of Directors and implemented with the FY 2023/24 
Final Budget. 

Purpose 

The purpose of this policy is to guide District fiscal planning, deliberations and 
decisions toward maintaining long-term financial stability, providing adequate funding 
for Capital Improvement Program (CIP) expenditures, and accelerating payment of 
unfunded liabilities. This policy will assist the Board in making informed choices about 
the provision of District services and management of capital assets, and facilitate 
effective and informed budget input by District constituents. 

This policy guides the development of the District's annual budget and directs Finance 
Division staff on budget development practices, including recognition of year-end 
revenues and calculation of the General Fund reserve. 

Scope 

This policy applies to all District personnel. 

Definition 

1. Balanced Budget: An annual budget in which operating revenues and any one
time revenues are greater than or equal to ongoing operating expenditures. 

2. Capital Improvement Program (GIP): A multi-year plan that identifies needed 
capital projects and equipment, provides a planning schedule, and financing 
options. 

3. GIP Reserves: Reserves accumulated for the purchase of apparatus, 
equipment, and the construction, rehabilitation, and improvements to District 
facilities and properties. These reserves are comprised of the reserves from both 
the Capital Facilities Fund and the Development Impact Fees Fund. 

llP a g e 

P33 



Financial Planning and Budget 
Policy Number 

Policy Review Date 

4. Encumbrances: Commitments related to unperformed (executory) contracts for 
goods or services (i.e., purchase orders, contracts, and commitments). 

5. Final Budget: Using the preliminary budget as a basis, the District budget 
scheduled and developed for consideration by the Board before October 1 every 
year. The final budget is subsequently updated in the Midyear Budget. 

6. Five-Year Budget Forecast: A budget forecast including the upcoming fiscal 
year and at least four (4) additional years, displaying major revenue and 
expenditure sources, transfers, ending General Fund reserve balance, and 
General Fund reserve ratio. 

7. Fund Balance: Governmental Fund balance sheet assets less liabilities, equals 
fund balance. Accountants distinguish up to five (5) separate categories of fund 
balance, based on the extent to which the government is bound to honor specific 
purposes spending constraints. 

8. General Fund: For budgeting and reporting purposes, the District records all 
transactions in the General Fund that are not specifically accounted for in any 
other fund. The other funds include the Capital Facilities Fund, the Leased 
Properties Fund, the Grant Fund, the Development Impact Fees Fund, the 
Intergovernmental Transfer (IGT) Fund, and Special Projects Fund. 

9. Labor Budget: A component of the District's budget comprising compensation 
(e.g., wages, overtime, constant staffing, leave balances used, and incentives) 
and benefits (e.g., pensions, workers' compensation, and employee medical, 
dental, and vision insurance). 

10. Midyear Budget: Based on the approved Final Budget for that fiscal year and 
incorporating actual revenue and expenditure information from the first six 
months of the fiscal year and projections for the last six months, the Midyear 
Budget provides updated budget information and is considered by the Board 
before April 1 every year. 

11. Operating revenues: For purposes of this policy, operating revenues are 
defined as District revenue in the General Fund and any transfers to the General 
Fund that have either been (a) transferred to the General Fund for each of the 
five (5) prior fiscal years or (b) transferred from a program established and 
funded through state or federal law and does not have an expiration or sunset 
date. Operating revenues do not include revenues or transfers to the General 
Fund that are known to be one-time. 

12. Operating expenditures: District expenditures paid from General Fund 
balances, including transfers from the General Fund to other funds. 

13. Preliminary Budget: The District Budget scheduled and developed for 
consideration by the Board before July 1 every year. The Preliminary Budget is 
subsequently updated in the Final Budget and Midyear Budget. 

2 

P34 



Policy 

Financial Planning and Budget 
Policy Number 

Policy Review Date 

1. Budget Development Process 

a. The District prepares and presents to the Finance and Audit Committee and 
Board of Directors three (3) separate budget plans: the Preliminary Budget 
Final Budget and Midyear Budget. 

b. The District's budget development process follows these seven (7) steps for 
each budget process (Preliminary Budget, Final Budget, and Midyear Budget): 

i. The Finance Division prepares and distributes to division budget personnel 
a calendar for the upcoming budget process. 

ii. Divisions input their budget requests into the financial management 
system. 

iii. Divisions explain and discuss their requests with branch leadership and the 
Finance team. 

iv. Requests are evaluated and presented to the District's executive 
management team, and adjustments are identified to ensure proposed 
expenditures match available revenues and the District's strategic direction 
and priorities. 

v. The Finance Division prepares and presents budget materials for the 
Finance and Audit Committee and Board. 

vi. The Board amends (if necessary) and ultimately adopts the proposed 
Budget. 

vii. The Finance Division monitors revenues and expenditures, and reports 
variances in bimonthly fiscal reports, or as often as necessary to ensure 
the Board is informed about unanticipated budget trends. 

c. Appropriations in all budgeted funds lapse at the end of the fiscal year, even if 
there are related encumbrances. Valid outstanding encumbrances (those for 
which performance under an executory contract is anticipated in the next year) 
must be re-appropriated in the Final Budget. 

d. Budget Transfers 

i. Transfers between District funds or objects (salaries and benefits, services 
and supplies, capital outlay, and debt service or other expenditures) must 
be approved by the Board. 

ii. Transfers within the same fund or object (salaries and benefits, services 
and supplies, capital outlay, and debt service or other expenditures), 
including transfers within divisions and between divisions, must be 

3 

P35 



Financial Planning and Budget 
Policy Number 

Policy Review Date 

approved by the Deputy Chief(s) overseeing the division(s) affected by the 
transfer. 

2. Balanced Budget 

a. The District shall endeavor to propose balanced budgets for all funds, as 
defined above. If a balanced General Fund budget is not proposed, the budget 
shall specify the amount and share of General Fund reserves to be used. 

b. The District shall also endeavor to achieve a projected General Fund budget 
that is balanced for all years included in the Five-Year Budget Forecast. 

3. Financial Stability 

a. The District will strive to achieve sustained financial stability by: 

i. Building Capital Facilities Fund balances that accumulate and deplete in 
harmony with the needs and timing of capital projects identified in the 
five-year CIP Plan and capital outlay budget, and 

ii. Facilitating accelerated payment of the District's unfunded liabilities. 

4. General Fund Reserve 

a. In order to minimize the variance between Final Budget and Midyear Budget 
revenues, expenditures, and transfers, the beginning General Fund reserve 
reported in the Final Budget shall incorporate the most up-to-date prior year 
revenue, expenditure, and transfer data available when the Final Budget is 
prepared. 

b. The District shall strive to maintain a reserve ratio in the General Fund set at 
15 percent of General Fund expenditures for unplanned emergencies. 

c. The reserve ratio will be calculated and established at budget adoption 
(Preliminary Budget, Final Budget, or Midyear Budget). 

d. For purposes of calculating the General Fund reserve ratio, accelerated 
payments toward unfunded liabilities, expenditures approved as a one-time 
expenditure in the given fiscal year, and operating transfers out of the General 
Fund to other funds to support one-time expenditures in those funds (e.g., 
capital outlay in the Capital Facilities Fund) are excluded. 

e. The General Fund reserve calculation shall incorporate the estimated balance 
of General Fund on June 30 of the budget year. 

f. Calculation 

i. The General Fund reserve shall be determined by first calculating the 
projected fund balance of the General Fund at the end of the fiscal year, 

4 

P36 



Financial Planning and Budget 
Policy Number 

Policy Review Date 

incorporating all General Fund revenues, expenditures, and financing 
sources and uses. This calculation is the numerator of the reserve ratio. 

ii. The denominator of the reserve ratio shall be the projected General Fund 
expenditures (excluding capital and one-time expenditures) and other 
financing uses, including transfers out (excluding any capital outlay support 
cost transfers to other funds). 

iii. The reserve ratio is calculated by dividing i by ii above. 

5. One-Time and Limited Term Revenues 

a. The District recognizes the considerable financial risk posed by applying one
time and limited term revenue sources to long-term expenditures. 

b. The District will only pay for ongoing expenditures from recurring operating 
revenue sources as defined in this policy. 

6. Excess Reserves 

a. In March of each year, after the Fifteen (15) percent General Fund reserve ratio 
has been achieved, the remaining surplus shall be allocated as follows: 

i. Fifty (50) percent of the remaining surplus shall be transferred to the Capital 
Facilities Fund for capital improvement expenditures, and 

ii. Fifty (50) percent shall be allocated as accelerated payment of District's 
unfunded liabilities (first toward pension liabi lity until achieving an eighty-five 
(85) percent funding level, and then toward Other Post Employment Benefit 
costs). 

b. If the Fifty (50) percent allocation to the Capital Facilities Fund, when combined 
with planned revenues from the Capital Facilities Fund is sufficient to fund that 
year's capital expenditures in the Capital Facilities Fund, then the remainder 
shall be allocated as an accelerated payment of the District's unfunded 
liabilities. 

7. Labor Cost as a Share of General Fund Revenues Calculation 

a. For purposes of budget information, labor cost as a share of General Fund 
revenues shall be calculated by dividing the budgeted costs of labor expenses 
(numerator) by all General Fund operating revenues (denominator), as 
defined. 

8. Five-Year Budget Forecast 

a. The Five-Year Budget Forecast shall be used as a budget tool updated 
annually in conjunction with the preliminary and final budget for projected 
revenues and expenditures. 

5 

P37 



Financial Planning and Budget 
Policy Number 

Policy Review Date 

b. The Five-Year Budget Forecast will also be updated whenever a significant 
financial event occurs or is anticipated to occur mid-year in order to assess 
the severity of the impact. 

c. The Five-Year Budget Forecast shall also be evaluated before undertaking 
any significant financial commitment to ensure the District's fiscal health will 
be maintained. 

d. Accuracy. 

i. Data included in the first two (2) years of the forecast is the most predictable 
and reliable. 

ii. Data contained in later years of the forecast is less reliable due to 
uncertainties regarding items such as future property tax growth, service 
costs, and capital needs. Although less reliable, the information is a useful 
indicator of trends and the potential need for early corrective intervention. 

References 

1. Debt Management Policy 

2. Reserve Funding Policy 

3. Capital Asset Policy 

4. Capital Improvement Program Policy 

6 

P38 


